### ANZ FARM MANAGEMENT DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

AGRIBUSINESS 31.07.2025



#### Introduction

#### References to ANZ

In these Terms and Conditions, 'ANZ' means Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN 11 005 357 522 and its related entities.

#### **Read Your Terms and Conditions**

You should read all relevant terms and conditions that are provided to you and ask ANZ about any issues that concern you.

If you have any questions or require further information about any ANZ account, simply ask at any ANZ branch or phone ANZ's Customer Service Centre on 13 13 14. Information on current fees, charges and interest rates is available on request.

ANZ offers two different types of Farm Management Deposit Account – the Variable Account and the Fixed Term Account. The following terms and conditions set out how both of these accounts work.

Where indicated, specific terms apply to each type of account. You should read these terms and conditions carefully to determine which Farm Management Deposit Account best suits your needs. Where these terms and conditions refer to an ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account it is a reference to both the Variable and the Fixed Term Account types.

This document must be read in conjunction with:

- the 'ANZ Personal Banking General Fees and Charges' (available online at www.anz.com/accounttermsconditions) which set out other fees and charges that can apply for specific services or account activities. See 'Account Fees' for more information:
- any 'ANZ Commercial Account Authority'; and
- any 'ANZ Farm Management Deposit (FMD)
   Acknowledgment and Agreement Form',

together they form your Terms and Conditions for the above product.

#### Law and Jurisdiction

- (a) These terms and conditions are governed by the Australian laws in force in the State or Territory where your account is domiciled.
- (b) In relation to any complaint, dispute or proceedings about or in connection with your account, ANZ and you agree to submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts that have jurisdiction under that law.

#### Not Independent

ANZ cannot refer to itself as 'independent', 'impartial' or 'unbiased' in relation to personal advice it provides because:

- ANZ is the issuer of some of the financial products it advises on;
- ANZ advisers can only advise on products and services approved by ANZ (which includes products issued by ANZ); and
- ANZ may receive remuneration from product issuers in respect of some products or services.

### **Contents**

Section 1	Special Terms and Conditions	
Section 2	Application of these Terms and Conditions	9
Section 3	How to Open an Account	9
Section 4	Operating Your ANZ Farm Manageme Deposit Account	nt 10
	Authority for Account Operation	10
	Deposits	10
	Combining Farm Management Deposit	s 10
	Withdrawing or Transferring Money	11
	Failure to Quote Your Tax File Number / Australian Business Number	12
	Account Fees	13
	Changes We Can Make to Fees, Charges and Interest	13
	Changes We Can Make to Other Terms and Conditions	15
	Notices	16
	Interest	17
	Interest Calculations	18
	Interest Payments	19
	End of term options	19
	Statements	20
	Privacy and Confidentiality	21
	Collection, use and disclosure of information	21
	Absence of relevant information	22
	Information required by law etc.	22

	Providing your information to others	22
	Credit Reporting	23
	ANZ Privacy Policy	23
	Collecting sensitive information	24
	Personal information you provide about someone else	t 24
	Special Clearance of Funds	24
	Disruption to Service	24
	Anti-Money Laundering and Sanctions	24
	Financial Claims Scheme	26
	Complaints	26
Section 5	Other Things You Need to Know to Manage Your Account	27
Section 6	Closing Your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts	28
Section 7	<b>Banking Code of Practice</b>	29
Section 8	Definitions	30

# Section 1 Special Terms and Conditions

Federal Law requires that the terms and conditions for the ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts include these special terms and conditions that must be observed for deposits made to the account to qualify as Farm Management Deposits under Federal Law.

The Federal Farm Management Deposit Scheme allows eligible Primary Producers to set aside pre-tax income in profitable years to establish cash reserves to help meet costs in low-income years. Generally, provided that specified conditions are satisfied, a deposit into a Farm Management Deposit account is deductible for income tax purposes in the year in which the deposit is made (note the deduction cannot exceed the primary production income for that year). Where amounts are withdrawn from the account, the amount of the deduction previously allowed should be included in your assessable income for tax purposes in the year in which the withdrawal is made.

Where you are required to pay income tax instalments under the Pay As You Go ('PAYG') regime, deposits made to the Farm Management Deposit Account may result in a reduction to the Primary Producer's instalment income for the relevant period. Withdrawals from the Farm Management Deposit Account should be included within the instalment income for the period in which the withdrawal is made. Accordingly, deposits and withdrawals may impact the tax instalments that are payable for PAYG purposes.

You must read this section very carefully and must always comply with these special terms and conditions. If you breach these special terms and conditions, deposits to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account may not qualify as Farm Management Deposits under Federal Law. This may have significant tax consequences for you. It is you, and not ANZ, who is responsible for ensuring that you comply with these terms and conditions. Accordingly, ANZ recommends that you seek your own independent taxation or financial advice in relation to the ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account.

You must be a Primary Producer (with taxable non-primary production income of \$100,000 or less or other amount as amended by the Federal law from time to time) at the time of making a Farm Management Deposit to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account. Your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account can only be opened in your name and cannot be held jointly, or otherwise, with any other person. Your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account cannot be opened by a person in trust for a beneficiary, unless the beneficiary is presently entitled to a share of the income of the trust estate and is under a legal disability. The account cannot otherwise be opened by a person in his or her capacity as trustee.

The total amount of Farm Management Deposits standing to the credit of your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts together with any other Farm Management Deposit accounts you may hold with other Authorised Deposit taking Institutions (ADI) must not exceed \$800,000 at any time. If you withdraw the whole or any part of a deposit made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account within 12 months after you deposited it into your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account, the amount withdrawn, or the entire deposit, (whether in the case of either a full or partial withdrawal), may be taken to never have been a Farm Management Deposit unless:

- the deposit was made with ANZ as a result of a transfer of a Farm Management Deposit from another financial institution, in which case you may withdraw the money 12 months after the applicable depositing day; or
- you die, become bankrupt or cease to be a Primary Producer for at least 120 days (in which case the deposit must be repaid); or
- the withdrawal comprises an electronic transfer of your Farm Management Deposit in your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account made by ANZ (in accordance with your written request) to another financial institution which has agreed to accept the funds as a Farm Management Deposit; or
- at the time of the withdrawal, the primary production business was in receipt of Commonwealth natural disaster relief and recovery arrangements as specified in the Income Tax Assessment Regulations (as amended from time to time).

 The land on which the primary production business is carried on is experiencing severe drought conditions as defined for the purposes of the Income Tax Assessment Act and Income Tax Assessment Regulations (as amended from time to time).

If a partial withdrawal is made under any other circumstances within 12 months of the deposit, the Farm Management Deposit status will only be denied to the extent of the amount withdrawn. The balance, provided it is greater than \$1,000, will continue to be a Farm Management Deposit and the 12 month requirement will continue to apply to this amount.

The amount of the repayment of the deposit must be at least \$1,000, except where the entire amount of the deposit is repaid.

As of 29 November 2011, Primary Producers are allowed to hold Farm Management Deposit accounts with more than one Authorised Deposit Taking Institution (ADI). It is the responsibility of the Primary Producer to ensure that the sum total of Farm Management Deposit balances they hold with all ADIs is not more than \$800,000 at any time. You must not transfer or attempt to transfer your rights in respect of Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account to any other person.

You must not create a charge or other encumbrance over Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account as security for an amount payable by you or any other person to ANZ or to any other person. Amounts that would otherwise accrue as interest or other earnings on Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account may be used to reduce you liabilities to pay interest to ANZ in respect of your loans or other debt only if ANZ agrees to offer you an eligible offset account and you maintain that account in accordance with its terms.

Interest or other earnings on Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account may not be invested as a Farm Management Deposit without having first being paid to you.

If you request it in writing, ANZ must electronically transfer Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account to another financial institution that has agreed to accept the funds as Farm Management Deposits. ANZ may not

deduct from Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account, any administration fee or other amount required by ANZ to be paid in respect of your Farm Management Deposit or otherwise. Any fee or charge payable on the Farm Management Deposit account will be charged to a separate account as agreed at the time of opening the Farm Management Deposit. Generally, this is the same account into which interest earned on the Farm Management Deposit is paid to.

The minimum initial Farm Management Deposit to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account is as follows:

ANZ Farm Management Deposit	
Variable Account	\$1,000

ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed
Term Account \$1,000

# Section 2 Application of these Terms and Conditions

If you are opening a new account, these terms and conditions will apply immediately. Other terms and conditions, including those implied by law, apply. To the extent of any inconsistency, these terms and conditions shall prevail to the extent permitted by law. You should read all terms and conditions provided to you and ask ANZ about any issues that concern you.

## Section 3 How to Open an Account

Under Federal Government law, we must verify the identity of all account holders, and anyone authorised to act for them. For us to do this you and anyone authorised to act for you must satisfactorily meet ANZ's Customer Identification Process.

Depending on your business and/or structure you will be required to provide certain documents and information to ANZ.

For information relating to the documents required please contact any branch or speak to your ANZ Manager.

If you, or signatories to the account, are not identified in terms of the law, the account will be blocked for all withdrawals and/or deposits until the requirements are satisfied.

If you are an existing customer, or account signatory, identification requirements may have previously been satisfied so you don't need to provide the information again, unless you are asked to do so by us.

# Section 4 Operating Your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account

#### **Authority for Account Operation**

ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts can only be opened under an individual name. However under specific circumstances, you can nominate a person, in writing, to operate your account on your behalf. Except where expressly provided, ANZ can act at all times on the basis that the authorised operator or operators can act fully and effectively in all dealings, matters and transactions in respect of the account. You are responsible to ANZ for all liability that is incurred as a result of operations on the account. If you wish to alter the account authorisation instructions then you must notify ANZ in writing.

#### **Deposits**

There is a minimum initial deposit of \$1,000 for the ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account, and a minimum initial deposit of \$1,000 for the ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account.

You may make additional deposits to your ANZ Farm Management Variable Deposit Account in person at any ANZ branch, or by arranging a direct debit from another account. Each new deposit made to your ANZ Farm Management Variable Deposit Account is a separate deposit, and must separately comply with the requirements under Federal law and these terms and conditions.

#### **Combining Farm Management Deposits**

A new Farm Management Deposit account will need to be established upon any request to combine Farm Management Deposit accounts. You need to have held the FMD accounts being combined for a minimum of 12 months before combining into a single FMD account. We recommend that you obtain independent tax advice before making an application to combine FMD accounts.

You cannot make additional deposits to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account during the term of the investment.

#### Withdrawing or Transferring Money

a) ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Accounts

Withdrawals from your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account may be lodged over the counter at the ANZ branch at which your account is held. If you wish to lodge a withdrawal at an ANZ branch that is not the one where your account is held, ANZ may require you to provide satisfactory identification. You can elect to have withdrawals from your account paid to you in cash, by bank cheque or by a direct credit to an account nominated by you. Except where the entire amount of a Farm Management Deposit is repaid, the minimum amount of a withdrawal from your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account is \$1,000.

b) ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Accounts

## Fees and interest – consequences of early withdrawals generally

If you wish to withdraw all or part of the funds credited to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account before its maturity date, you require ANZ's agreement. Any request must be made in writing. If ANZ agrees to an early withdrawal, then ANZ will be entitled to reduce the interest rate payable on your account.

Where ANZ agrees to an early withdrawal the following early redemption structure will apply. An administration fee of \$30 will be charged and the money you withdraw early will incur an interest rate reduction based on the percentage of the original term that has elapsed, as illustrated below. The administration fee and interest penalty charges (if any) will be charged to the nominated account as detailed in Section 1 of this document.

% of Term Elapsed	Interest Rate Reduction	
0 to less than 20%	90%	
20% to less than 40%	80%	
40% to less than 60%	60%	
60% to less than 80%	40%	
80% to less than 100%	20%	

The money you leave in the account will continue to earn the interest rate originally agreed provided it meets the minimum balance requirements. If the amount remaining after a partial withdrawal would be less than the minimum allowed for an ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account, then the whole balance must be withdrawn. No interest adjustment will be made where an ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account is repaid before maturity following the death of a depositor.

For all ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts ANZ must repay all deposits if you:

- die:
- become bankrupt; or
- · cease to be a Primary Producer for at least 120 days.

If you make a request to ANZ in writing and provide ANZ with any information and assistance that it requires, ANZ must transfer a Farm Management Deposit by electronic means to another ADI that has provided written advice that it agrees to accept the deposit as a Farm Management Deposit. ANZ may allow you to make withdrawals or debits to your account in other ways, subject to the restrictions on withdrawals in Section 1.

## Failure to Quote Your Tax File Number /Australian Business Number

It is not compulsory to provide your TFN and it is not an offence if you decline to do so however in the event that you have not quoted your TFN or ABN (or exemption) to ANZ, ANZ will be required to deduct and remit withholding tax at the highest marginal rate plus Medicare levy on the interest earned, and withdrawals of principal amounts, in respect of your Farm Management Deposit Account.

The processing time to deduct the withholding tax and credit the remaining funds from your total withdrawal amount will be up to two business days. The processing time of two business days also applies to any refund of withholding tax deducted from your account, when you subsequently supply your TFN in the same tax year it was deducted.

#### **Account Fees**

ANZ must not deduct from a Farm Management Deposit, whether at the time it is made while it is with ANZ or at the time of its repayment, any administration fee or other amount required by ANZ to be paid in respect of the Farm Management Deposit or otherwise. Where a withdrawal is requested by you by bank cheque, a fee for that bank cheque may apply (it is payable on demand). If ANZ fails to collect a fee to which it is entitled, ANZ has not waived its right to collect the fee for future transactions of the same nature. ANZ may waive fees under certain conditions.

General fees and charges may apply for specific services or account activities. Details of those fees and charges and their amounts are set out in the 'ANZ Personal Banking General Fees and Charges' booklet, which is available at www.anz.com/accounttermsconditions. You agree that we may debit those fees and charges from another account if we provide you with relevant services or account activities on your Farm Management Deposit account.

#### Changes We Can Make to Fees, Charges and Interest

We may make changes to the terms and conditions of your account relating to fees, charges and interest without your agreement. The table sets out these changes and how and when we will give you notice of them. In the table, a reference to notice in writing is to notice by any notification method allowed by these terms and conditions and a reference to notice by press advertisement is publication in a national newspaper or any other public notice, as long as the requirements of any applicable law or industry code that we are a signatory of are met.

	Minimum Number of Days Notice	Method of Notice
Introduce a new fee or charge	30 days	In writing
Increase an existing fee or charge	30 days	In writing or by press advertisement
Change the method by which interest is calculated or the frequency with which interest is debited or credited	30 days	In writing
Change the interest rate that applies to your account	Day of change	In writing or by press advertisement
Change the name of interest rates, accounts or publications	Day of change	In writing or by press advertisement

The rights mentioned above should be read as if they are each a separate right of ANZ even though they are set out in the one table. Despite this clause:

- we cannot change the rate of interest that applies to a ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account during the term of the ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account (subject to any adjustment for early withdrawals as described in section entitled Fees and interest – consequences of early withdrawals generally); and
- we will always give you notice of any change to the terms and conditions of your account in accordance with any applicable laws or industry codes (such as the Banking Code of Practice), or any other terms and conditions applicable to your account, which require any minimum notice periods or specific methods of notification.

If you are unhappy with a proposed change to the terms and conditions, you have the right to close your account in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions in this booklet.

### Changes We Can Make to Other Terms and Conditions

We may make the following changes to the terms and conditions of your account without your agreement:

- changes that ensure that the product is, or the terms of the account are consistent with our business, communication, technological or operational systems or processes;
- changes to comply with, or reduce the risk of non-compliance with any law, or decision, recommendation, regulatory guidance or standard of any court, tribunal, ombudsman service, regulator or any other similar body;
- changes that are in our reasonable opinion, required or appropriate to protect any person (including ANZ) from the risk of fraud or illegal activity;
- changes that enhance the security of our products or services;
- · changes that are administrative;
- · changes to simplify the terms of your account;
- changes to correct a mistake, inconsistency or omission;
- changes to reflect changes or improvements to the features of the product or how it works;
- to change, or as part of a process to, discontinue or replace a product or migrate a product to a new system, and for this purpose we may change your product to a different product with similar features to the discontinued or replaced product, or change your existing product;
- · changes that are beneficial to you;
- changes that reflect current industry or market practice or conditions or that we reasonably consider are appropriate in light of changes to community standards or expectations in respect of bank or environmental, social and governance practices;
- changes that in our reasonable opinion are reasonably required to prudently manage a material credit, operational or compliance risk; and
- any other changes that are reasonably necessary to protect our legitimate business interests.

We will give you reasonable notice of these changes. If we reasonably consider a change is unfavourable to you, we will give you prior notice of at least 30 days. We may give you a shorter notice period, which may include notice on the day the change takes effect if we reasonable consider:

- the change has a positive or neutral effect on you; or
- providing a shorter notice period is necessary for us to:
  - avoid or reduce a material increase in our credit risk or loss; or
  - comply with legal or regulatory requirements.

We may give you notice of the change by any notification method allowed by these terms and conditions or by any advertisement in a national newspaper or any other public notice, as long as the requirements of any applicable law or industry code that we are a signatory of are met.

Despite this clause, we will always give you notice in accordance with any applicable law or industry codes (such as the Banking Code of Practice), or any other terms and conditions applicable to your account which require any minimum notice periods or specific methods of notification.

If you are unhappy with a proposed change to the terms and conditions, you have a right to exit your agreement by closing your account in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions in this booklet.

#### **Notices**

Without limiting any other provision of the terms and conditions of your account that allow for another form of notice, ANZ may give any statement, notice or other document (including a statement of account, a notice about your account or notice of a change to the terms and conditions of your account) to you in connection with your account personally, or by sending it by mail or, unless prohibited by law, by electronic methods. Each of these methods of delivery will be considered to constitute written notice.

For the purposes of providing such written notice, ANZ will rely on your contact information shown in its records.

Electronic methods used may include (but are not limited to) sending the document to your Electronic Address, or publishing the document on ANZ's website or in ANZ Internet Banking or ANZ Internet Banking for Business and giving you notice personally, or by sending the notice to you by mail or to your Electronic Address, when the document is available.

Where ANZ sends you a document by mail, or gives notice to you by mail that a document has been published on ANZ's website or in ANZ Internet Banking or ANZ Internet Banking for Business, you are deemed to have received the document on the seventh day after mailing.

Where ANZ gives a document to you by sending the document to your Electronic Address, or by sending a notice to your Electronic Address that the document has been published on ANZ's website or in ANZ Internet Banking or ANZ Internet Banking for Business, you are deemed to have received the document on the day after the day on which the document or notice is sent to your Electronic Address.

For the purpose of these terms and conditions, 'Electronic Address' includes your email address or mobile telephone number as shown in ANZ's records, or a notification or message sent in ANZ Internet Banking, ANZ Internet Banking for Business or ANZ's mobile phone banking application.

#### Interest

Details of current interest rates applicable to your account (including applicable tiers) are available:

- by contacting the Agri Business Banking Line Freecall on 1800 462 474; or
- at any ANZ branch; or
- on www.anz.com/auxiliary/rates-fees-terms/ interest-rates

and are part of these terms and conditions (subject to any agreement we have with you, which is also part of these terms and conditions).

Interest on Farm Management Deposits to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account cannot be invested directly as a Farm Management Deposit without first being paid to you. Amounts that would otherwise accrue as interest or other earnings on Farm Management Deposits made to your ANZ Farm

Management Deposit Account may be used to reduce you liabilities to pay interest to ANZ in respect of your loans or other debt only if ANZ agrees to offer you an eligible offset account and you maintain that account in accordance with its terms.

#### Interest Calculations

a) ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Accounts

Interest will be calculated on the daily closing balance of your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account and paid to you monthly, based on your account opening date or other date nominated by ANZ. The interest rate is tiered. A tiered interest rate means that the annual interest rate applicable to your account for a particular day can vary depending on the balance of your account on that day. This means that the rate of interest applicable on the whole balance of your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account can be different depending upon the balance of your account on a particular day. The interest rate is variable. The daily interest rate is the annual rate divided by 365.

b) ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Accounts

ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Accounts can be opened for any term between three months and three years. In some cases, we may agree to a shorter term (no less than 7 days) or a longer term. Interest is ordinarily paid annually and at maturity. The maturity date is the last day of the term of that deposit.

If your final scheduled interest payment date does not align with the maturity date, we may make the final scheduled interest payment upon maturity (along with any additional final interest payment payable upon maturity) instead of the scheduled interest payment date.

Interest is calculated on the opening balance of your account. The rate of interest is fixed for the term of your deposit. ANZ will advise you of the interest rate for the particular term that you have chosen at the time you make the deposit. Interest accrues daily and the daily interest rate is the rate fixed for the term of your deposit divided by 365. Interest is not compounded.

#### **Interest Payments**

Interest on all of your Farm Management Deposits will be credited to an ANZ account:

- other than your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account;
- · that you hold; and
- that you have nominated in writing to be the account to which interest on all of your Farm Management Deposits is to be paid.

If we have not received written instruction from you as to which account interest on your Farm Management Deposit is to be paid to, then interest will be paid to you by cheque and will be sent to your mailing address we have on file.

#### **End of term options**

When establishing an ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account, we will normally ask you what you want to do with the funds in your term deposit when the term ends. Upon maturity, you can choose whether the funds are paid to you or reinvested in another ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account.

You can choose different options to apply to each of the principal payment and interest payment upon maturity.

Your instructions apply to both the original term deposit and, if applicable, any further term deposit arising from reinvestment.

You have up to the end of the period of seven days (grace period) beginning immediately after the maturity date (the last day of the term) to change your mind for the reinvestment option. You can also choose to have the amount of the fixed term deposit, or any unpaid interest on the term deposit, or both, paid to you. Within that seven-day time period, you can change your instructions by:

- changing the reinvestment term and/or
- changing the reinvestment amount (as long as the change is at least \$1,000 and the amount to be reinvested is at least \$1,000) and/or
- choosing a different type of ANZ Farm Management deposit account if we allow you to do so.

The interest rate will be determined based on these changes.

You can change reinvestment instructions within the grace period, and if you do so this will not be treated as an early withdrawal under the section 'Fees and interest – consequences of early withdrawals generally'.

To do this you can contact us at an ANZ Branch and/or through your ANZ Relationship Manager, or in any other way we allow on a business day within the grace period.

If you have not provided relevant instructions prior to maturity, and the balance of your term deposit is \$1,000 or more, we will reinvest the funds into a new Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Account with the same term and interest payment frequency.

If funds are reinvested, unless otherwise agreed with us, the interest rate for the new term deposit will be the one advertised at the beginning of the grace period mentioned above for ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Accounts of the same type, term, and amount and with the same frequency of interest payments. This interest rate may be higher or lower than the rate on your maturing fixed term deposit. You can contact us to confirm the rate that applies.

#### Statements

ANZ will issue statements for your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Variable Account at least once every six months.

If we previously agreed to provide statements at a different frequency (being more frequently than every six months), or to provide multiple different statement frequencies, that arrangement will continue subject to our rights under this clause.

Acting reasonably, we can change your statement frequency by giving you reasonable prior notice of at least 30 days, provided that we will always provide you with a statement at least once every six months.

If there are errors or unauthorised transactions shown on your statement you must contact ANZ as soon as possible.

For ANZ Farm Management Deposit Fixed Term Accounts, a Record of Investment will be issued to you at the time of opening your account and also when its rolled after maturity. A statement will also be issued at least once every six months.

You must carefully review your statements so you are aware of the status of your account. If you believe there are errors or unauthorised transactions shown on your statement, you must contact ANZ as soon as possible.

#### **Privacy and Confidentiality**

ANZ will collect and use information about you during the course of your relationship with ANZ. We explain below when and how ANZ may collect, use and disclose this information.

It is important that the information ANZ holds about you is up to date. You must let ANZ know when information you have provided ANZ has changed.

#### Collection, use and disclosure of information

ANZ may use and disclose the information we collect about you for the following purposes:

- to assist in providing information about a product or service;
- to consider your request for a product or service;
- · to enable ANZ to provide a product or service;
- to tell you about other products or services that may be of interest to you;
- to assist in arrangements with other organisations (such as loyalty partners) in relation to the promotion or provision of a product or service;
- to manage accounts and perform other administrative and operational tasks (including risk management, systems development and testing, credit scoring, staff training, collecting debts and market or customer satisfaction research);
- to consider any concerns or complaints you raise against ANZ and/or to manage any legal action involving ANZ;
- to identify, prevent or investigate any fraud, unlawful activity or misconduct (or suspected fraud, unlawful activity or misconduct);
- to identify you or establish your tax status under any Australian or foreign legislation, regulation or treaty or pursuant to an agreement with any tax authority; and
- as required by relevant laws, regulations, codes of practice and external payment systems.

#### Absence of relevant information

If you do not provide some or all of the information requested, ANZ may be unable to provide you with a product or service.

#### Information required by law etc.

ANZ may be required by relevant laws to collect certain information from you. Details of laws that require us to collect information about individuals (personal information) and why these laws require us to collect personal information are contained in ANZ's Privacy Policy and at www.anz.com/privacy.

#### Providing your information to others

ANZ may provide your information to:

- any related entity of ANZ which may use the information to: carry out ANZ's functions and activities; promote its own products and services; assess your application for one of its products or services; manage your product or service; perform administrative and operational tasks (including debt recovery); or comply with regulatory requirements and prudential standards;
- an organisation that is in an arrangement with ANZ to jointly offer products and/or has an alliance with ANZ to share information for marketing purposes (and any of its outsourced service providers or agents), to enable them or ANZ to: provide you with products or services; and/or promote a product or service;
- any agent, contractor or service provider ANZ engages to carry out or assist its functions and activities (for example, mailing houses or debt collection agencies);
- an organisation that assists ANZ to identify, prevent or investigate fraud, unlawful activity or misconduct;
- regulatory bodies, government agencies, law enforcement bodies and courts;
- other parties ANZ is authorised or required by law or court/tribunal order to disclose information to;
- participants in the payments system (including payment organisations and merchants) and other financial institutions (such as banks):
- other credit providers;

- mortgage insurers and any reinsurer of any such mortgage insurer;
- your guarantors (and intending guarantors) and any person who has provided security for your loan;
- · any person who introduces you to ANZ;
- your referee(s);
- · your employer;
- · Your joint borrower(s); and
- your adviser; your authorised agents; your executor, administrator or trustee in bankruptcy; your legal representative; your attorney; or anyone acting for you in connection with your account.

If you do not want us to tell you about products or services, phone 13 13 14 to withdraw your consent.

ANZ may disclose information to recipients (including service providers and ANZ's related entities) which are (1) located outside Australia and/or (2) not established in or do not carry on business in Australia. You can find details about the location of these recipients in ANZ's Privacy Policy and at www.anz.com/privacy.

#### **Credit Reporting**

ANZ may also disclose personal information, including information about your other credit liabilities, repayments and defaults, to credit reporting bodies. We may also collect this information from credit reporting bodies. Information about credit reporting, including the name and contact details of these credit reporting bodies, when ANZ may disclose your personal information to them to include in a report about your credit worthiness, and how you can request credit reporting bodies not use your information in certain circumstances, is available at www.anz.com/privacy.

If you would like a hard copy of this information, please call 13 13 14 or visit any ANZ branch for a copy of ANZ's Privacy Policy.

#### **ANZ Privacy Policy**

ANZ's Privacy Policy (www.anz.com/privacy) contains information about:

 the circumstances in which ANZ may collect personal information from other sources (including from a third party);

- how to access personal information and seek correction of personal information; and
- how you can raise concerns that ANZ has breached the Privacy Act or an applicable code and how ANZ will deal with those matters.

#### Collecting sensitive information

ANZ will not collect sensitive information about you, such as information about your health, without your consent.

#### Personal information you provide about someone else

If you give ANZ personal information about someone else, please show them a copy of this clause so that they may understand the manner in which their personal information may be used or disclosed by ANZ in connection with your dealings with ANZ.

#### **Special Clearance of Funds**

Special clearance of cheques that are deposited into your account are no longer available.

#### Disruption to Service

To the extent permitted by law, we will not be liable to you for any loss or damage (whether direct or consequential), nor be in default under these terms and conditions, if we fail to observe or perform any of our obligations under these terms and conditions because of anything which we could not, with reasonable diligence, control or prevent. This includes acts of God, acts of nature, acts of government or their agencies, strikes or other industrial action, fire, flood, storm, riots, power or network shortages or failures, unexpected system or equipment failure by ANZ or third party, epidemics or pandemics, or disruption by war or sabotage.

#### Anti-Money Laundering and Sanctions

You agree that we may, without providing you with any notice and without incurring any liability delay, block or refuse to process any transaction, or close your account, if we reasonably consider or suspect that processing the transaction or keeping your account open:

- may break any law or regulation in Australia or any other country;
- involves any person (natural, corporate or governmental) that is itself sanctioned or is

connected, directly or indirectly, to any person that is sanctioned under economic and trade sanctions imposed by the United Nations, the European Union or any country;

- may directly or indirectly involve the proceeds of, or be applied for the purposes of, unlawful conduct; or
- may be inconsistent with or prohibited by our anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing or sanctions policies. Such policies, which can change from time to time, are designed to help ANZ comply with legal obligations and to identify, manage and mitigate money laundering, terrorism financing and sanctions risks. These policies cover matters such as ANZ's approach to:
  - 1. customer due diligence;
  - monitoring transactions for indicators of unusual behaviour and reporting suspicious activities to appropriate authorities; and
  - transactions that may be connected, directly or indirectly, with sanctioned parties, jurisdictions, products or sectors of economies in certain jurisdictions.

A summary of our anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing policy and our sanctions policy is available on anz.com and includes, for example, a current list of relevant jurisdictions.

You must give us all the information we reasonably need to manage anti-money laundering, counter-terrorism financing and/or economic and trade sanctions risk or to comply with any law in Australia or any other country. You agree that we may give any information about you to:

- any law enforcement, regulatory agency or court if we must do this under any law or regulation in Australia or elsewhere; and
- any correspondent (or agent) bank we use to make the payment for the purpose of compliance with any law or regulation.

Unless you have told us that you are a trustee of the account or are acting on behalf of someone else, you warrant that you are acting on your own behalf in entering into this agreement.

You declare and undertake to us that the processing of any transaction by us in accordance with your instructions will not breach any law or regulation in Australia or any other country.

#### **Financial Claims Scheme**

**Under the Financial Claims Scheme:** 

- The account holder may be entitled to payment under the Financial Claims Scheme;
- Payments under the Financial Claims Scheme are subject to a limit for each depositor; and
- Information about the Financial Claims Scheme can be obtained from http://www.fcs.gov.au.

### **Complaints**

#### We want your feedback

We strive to get things right, but we don't guarantee that information presented is always accurate, or that our systems will work perfectly.

If you have a complaint, please contact us. Our customer service team is your first point of contact for raising complaints. You can use the ANZ App to message us or talk to staff at your local ANZ branch or Business Centre (use Find a branch/ATM on www.anz.com). Other ways of contacting us are listed in the back of this booklet.

For most complaints, we will need to identify you and the relevant account so that we can help.

Other ways to make a complaint

- Online:
  - Visit www.anz.com
  - Search for 'complaints'
  - Select 'online complaint form'
- Mail: ANZ Customer Resolution Locked Bag 4050 South Melbourne VIC 3205

If you are not satisfied with the response to your complaint please let the person handling your complaint know. They may review their decision or escalate your complaint to another internal team for review (any other team will have to confirm your identity as well).

Our staff will work closely with you to resolve any complaint you may have quickly and amicably.

#### **Further help**

If you are not satisfied with the resolution offered by ANZ, you can have your complaint reviewed free of charge by the Australian Financial Complaints Authority, an external dispute resolution scheme.

#### The Australian Financial Complaints Authority (AFCA)

AFCA is external to ANZ. AFCA provides a free and independent dispute resolution service for individual and small business customers who are unable to resolve their complaints directly with ANZ.

Website: afca.org.au

Phone: +61 1800 931 678

Mail: Australian Financial Complaints Authority

GPO Box 3

Melbourne VIC 3001

# Section 5 Other Things You Need to Know to Manage Your Account

You should notify ANZ promptly of any changes to your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Account details.

ANZ will not be responsible for any errors or losses associated with account changes where we have not received prior notice.

You should inform ANZ as soon as possible if you are in financial difficulty.

# Section 6 Closing Your ANZ Farm Management Deposit Accounts

If the account is holding uncleared funds at the time of your request to close the account, these will not be released until the funds are cleared.

In addition to the circumstances referred to in the section entitled 'Anti-Money Laundering and Sanctions', we can close your account without telling you first if:

- we reasonably think that you haven't complied with these terms and conditions in a material way and you haven't fixed the non-compliance in a reasonable time after we ask you to do so;
- we're required to by law, court order or a direction of a regulator;
- we reasonably think your account is being used fraudulently or illegally;
- · you are no longer eligible to have your account;
- we reasonably think that something you told us or a confirmation that you gave us is or becomes incorrect and that is material to us;
- we reasonably think you are using any account and/or product you have with us, or using any channel provided by us, inappropriately or to engage in financial or other abuse, unlawful behaviour or to engage in offensive, threatening, defamatory, harassing or controlling behaviour; or
- we think it is reasonably necessary in our legitimate business interests.

We can also close your account if you owe us any money and haven't paid us after receiving a request from us asking you to and we reasonably consider it is in our legitimate interests to do so. We'll try to tell you before we do this, but unless the law requires us to, we don't have to.

We can close your account:

- if you haven't operated it for more than 3 months and the balance is:
  - \$0 or negative, without telling you first

- greater than \$0, by telling you at least 30 days prior to closing in order to give you the opportunity to transfer your Farm Management Deposit(s) to another financial institution, and
- without reason, if we tell you a reasonable time before we close it in order to give you the opportunity to transfer your Farm Management Deposit(s) to another financial institution.

# Section 7 Banking Code of Practice

If you are an individual or a small business (as defined in the Banking Code of Practice) ANZ is bound by the Banking Code of Practice when it provides its products and services to you. The Banking Code of Practice means the relevant version of the industry code published from time to time by the Australian Banking Association as it applies to ANZ.

## Section 8 Definitions

#### **Applicable Depositing Day Means:**

- a) if the Farm Management Deposit was made with ANZ as a result of a transfer of a Farm Management Deposit from another financial institution, the day on which the Farm Management Deposit was made with the first financial institution; or
- b) if the Farm Management Deposit was made with ANZ as a result of a request under section 25B of the Loan Income Equalisation Deposits) Act 1976, the day on which the Farm Management Deposit was made under that Act; or
- c) if the Farm Management Deposit was made with ANZ as a result of both a transfer under paragraph
   a) and a request under paragraph b), the date mentioned under paragraph a); or
- d) if none of the above are applicable, the day on which the deposit is made with ANZ.

#### **Primary Producer Means:**

- a) an individual who carries on in Australia a primary production business otherwise than as a trustee of a trust estate; or
- a partner (not being a company) in a partnership that carries on in Australia a primary production business; or
- a beneficiary (not being a company) who is presently entitled to a share of the income of a trust estate where the trustee carries on in Australia a primary production business.

Primary production business has the meaning given by subsection 995-1(1) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

